IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FORIDA

| ALFREDCO LETT, | : |
|-------------------|---|
| Petitioner, | : |
| v . | : |
| STATE OF FLORIDA, | : |
| Respondent. | : |
| | 1 |

Ŧ

4.

| V APR 8 1996 | | |
|----------------------|--|--|
| BLERK, SUPREME COURT | | |

0d 1

CASE NO. 87,541

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

RAYMOND DIX ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 230502 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case is before the Court on a certified question from the 1st District Court of Appeal. The Petitioner is Alfredco Lett, defendant and appellant below, who shall be referred to by his name or as Petitioner.

Record designations are as follows:

"R.____" Record on direct appeal including the sentencing transcript. (R.7-21).

"T. " Transcript of the trial

"PB.___" Petitioner's initial brief in the 1st District Court of Appeal.

"PR.___" Petitioner's reply brief in the 1st District Court of Appeal.

"PMR.__" Petitioner's motion for rehearing to the 1st District Court of Appeal.

"SB.___" State's answer brief in the 1st District Court of Appeal.

٠

٠

"01.___" First opinion issued by the 1st District Court of Appeal.

"02.___" Opinion on Rehearing issued by the 1st District Court of Appeal.(Opinion wherein this question was "certified")

All other cites are self-explanatory or will be explained herein.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Original appeal in this case was taken from a jury trial in Escambia County, Florida, Circuit Court before J. T. Michael Jones, on October 17 and 19, 1994.

Petitioner was charged with aggravated battery, the information being dated June 21, 1994, (R.1), and aggravated assault on the same person by amended information filed October 19, 1994. (R.2)(T.42-43). Petitioner was tried by jury and found guilty of both charges. (R.5)(T.173).

The petitioner requested placement in a residential treatment program due to his heavy alcohol and drug abuse, (R.15), however, treatment was ordered in prison. (R.18) He was sentenced to five years probation imposed consecutively to the 80 month prison term given in a companion case. (R.18). The main purpose of the probation was to allow appellant to pay restitution for medical bills of the victim.

The 1st District Court of Appeal originally denied all relief in an opinion filed January 23, 1996. (Appendix A)

A Motion for rehearing, rehearing en banc, or certification was filed raising three possible questions, 1) does <u>Coney</u> apply to pipeline cases; 2) must an objection be raised to preserve the <u>Coney</u> issue; and 2) is the state estopped from taking a position that petitioner's absence from the bench was not error? (Appendix B)

Upon rehearing another opinion was issued March 5, 1996, granting relief in part and denying relief in part, with the following question certified to this Court regarding the

application of its decision in <u>Coney v. State</u>, 653 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1995):

DOES THE DECISION IN <u>CONEY</u> APPLY TO "PIPELINE CASES," THAT IS, THOSE OF SIMILARLY SITUATED DEFENDANTS WHOSE CASES WERE PENDING ON DIRECT REVIEW OR NOT YET FINAL DURING THE TIME <u>CONEY</u> WAS UNDER CONSIDERATION BUT PRIOR TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE OPINION?

(Appendix C).

٠

A motion to invoke discretion of this Court was filed March 7, 1996, (Appendix D), and the 1st District Court of Appeal issued its mandate in this case March 21, 1996. (Appendix E).

III. FACTS OF THE CASE

A. Jury selection.

Facts concerning the voir dire and certified question are set forth in the argument. However, in short, the record does not reflect petitioner's presence at the bench during selection of jurors; nor does it reflect notification, inquiry, or certification concerning any waiver of the right in question; nor does it reflect petitioner being asked to ratify the decisions made by counsel regarding the selection of the jury.

B. Facts adduced at trial.

The victim in this case, Frances Faye Mosley, a cousin of the petitioner, testified that she, the petitioner, and the owner of the house where the incident took place, were on the front porch of the house when an argument she had been having with the petitioner escalated. (T.62-63). She told the petitioner to leave the premises and he refused, saying it was not her place and he did not have to leave. (T.64).

The victim thought the petitioner had a knife or something silver in his hand¹, (T.66,69), so she threw a bottle and hit him, somewhere in the right chest or shoulder. (T.66-67). The victim then took another beer bottle, broke it, and threatened to cut the petitioner with it, (T.68-70, 78), intending to injure him. (T.68, 78).

The victim also testified that as the petitioner was backing away from her, she continued toward him with the broken beer

¹ No such weapon was found in the area, (T.79), nor on Mr. Lett when he was searched incident to his arrest. (T.102).

bottle, backing him off the porch and around the side of the house. (T.69-70).

Once around the side of the house, she testified that she dropped the broken beer bottle THEN the petitioner struck her arm with an automotive $jack^2$, breaking her arm and leaving scars (which were exhibited to the jury). (T.69-70, 73-74).

After her arm was broken (she was disarmed) she ran toward the porch followed by the petitioner who held the "jack drawed back" as if to hit her, though he never swung it at her. (T.71-73).

The state also presented David "Crow" Walker, part owner of the house where the incident took place. Walker testified that the petitioner had been neither threatening the victim, nor trying to hurt her when she threw the first bottle, (T.92), which hit the petitioner, struck a pole, bounced and hit the petitioner again. (T.88). He also testified that the victim broke a beer bottle and went after the petitioner with the broken neck of the bottle as a weapon, (T.88), and that "knowing her, she would have used it." (T.95).

After the victim and the petitioner went around the corner of the house, Walker does not know what happened, but a few seconds (T.96) later the victim came back to the porch with a broken arm, the petitioner walking (T.98) behind her holding a jack raised as if "fixing to hit her."(T.88-89). However, the

² There are no witnesses except the victim to this critical part of the incident.

petitioner did not try to hit her. (T.95). Instead he placed the jack on Walker's car's trunk. (T.89)

ŧ.

The defense rested without presenting any witnesses. (T.117). The jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged on both counts. (T.173).

The defense moved for judgment of acquittal on the basis of the verdict being against the weight of the evidence -- that it was a clear cut case of self-defense. (T.176). However, the trial court, indicating that it did not necessarily agree with the verdict and was "not saying it would agree if (he were) on the jury" (T.177), indicated that there was enough evidence to go to the jury and denied the motion. (T.177-178).

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Two issues were presented to the District Court of Appeal for its consideration. In addition to addressing the question certified to this Court, Petitioner also wishes to address, at least in short form, the other issue which was raised on appeal. While considering the certified question to be of primary importance to this Court, the order in which the issues were presented to the 1st District remains unchanged to prevent confusion of the issues.

First, the evidence presented at trial was not sufficient to convict the petitioner where it is an uncontroverted fact, from the mouth of the victim and the only other eyewitness, that the victim was attacking the petitioner with a dangerous, potentially lethal weapon, and he was retreating when he struck a blow in his defense. The court should have granted the motion for judgment of acquittal on the grounds of reasonable self-defense, and or the Appeal Court should have granted relief in the interest of justice.

Second, is the issue which is before this Court as a CERTIFIED QUESTION. Petitioner was not present at the site of selection when the jury was chosen and therefore was unable to participate in the selection of his jury. Petitioner's case is one of the so-called "pipeline cases," falling between the time of Coney's trial, yet before the decision was rendered in <u>Coney v</u> State, 653 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1995).

Equal protection under the law, as well as decisions of this and other courts, demands that Petitioner be granted the same

relief as was granted Coney. This is true whether <u>Coney</u> is considered to be "new law" or not. At the very least, the law which preceded <u>Coney</u>, and upon which <u>Coney</u> was decided, mandates that Petitioner be granted the same relief.

٠

The state conceded error in <u>Coney</u>, but the error was held harmless. Here, the state is estopped from arguing that what occurred here -- the same factual scenario -- is not error.

Error has occurred, and it is not harmless, whether peremptory challenges were made or not. If they were made, they may not have been the ones Petitioner wanted. If they were not made, he may have wanted them to have been -- including possible backstrikes. This Court has no way to access the damage done to the Petitioner.

There is error, it is harmful, and as it is impossible to access the consequences, the harmful error is prejudicial. Thus, the answer to the certified question is **YES**, and Petitioner should be granted a new trial.

V. FIRST ARGUMENT

ISSUE PRESENTED: DID THE TRIAL COURT REVER-SIBLY ERR IN DENYING THE PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL AS THE EVIDENCE CLEARLY ESTABLISHED SELF-DEFENSE AS A MATTER OF LAW.

The alleged victim, Frances Mosley, attacked the petitioner, with a lethal and deadly weapon, and according to a state's witness, would have used it on him. She threw at least one beer bottle at him, and broke another to use as a stabbing/slashing weapon, and attacked the petitioner.

The petitioner retreated, off the porch of the house, and retreated further around the corner under constant attack by the alleged victim. The petitioner was apparently completely unarmed -- until he located a bumper jack.

Alleged VICTIM, Frances Mosley, by her own testimony, committed battery, assault, and assault with a deadly weapon, and perhaps assault with intent to murder or maim -- yet she goes free. Alfredco Lett defended himself, and is in prison. Justice has not prevailed in this case.

It does not matter whether or not Mosley was living at the place where the incident took place. After all, she had driven Mr. Lett off of the porch and then continued to attack him with the broken bottle.

The only question was whether or not "victim" Mosley had ceased her attack when her arm was broken by the petitioner. She said she had dropped the bottle before he struck her. (T.69-70, 73-74). However, she had been the attacker, and her testimony is

suspect in that she claimed that Mr. Lett had a weapon, yet no other weapon was ever found.

The defense moved for judgment of acquittal on the basis of the verdict being against the weight of the evidence -- that it was a clear cut case of self-defense. (T.176).

The trial court, while denying the motion, indicated that it did not necessarily agree with the verdict and was "not saying it would agree if (it) was on the jury." (T.177, 178). Even the State questioned whether Mosley was really a "victim." Why else would a prosecutor place the "victim" on the witness stand and ask: "are you the Frances Mosley that is the <u>alleged</u> victim in this case?" (T.58) (emphasis added).

Section 776.012, Florida Statutes, provides legal justification for the use of force in one's defense if one reasonably believes that such conduct is necessary to defend himself against another's imminent use of unlawful force.

Where the facts establish self-defense as a matter of law, a motion to dismiss should be granted. <u>See Ellis v. State</u>, 346 So.2d 1044 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977). Where the state's evidence actually supports, and does not refute, the defendant's claim of self-defense, the state cannot meet its burden of proof. The legal effect of uncontradicted and unimpeached evidence of self-defense becomes a question of law for the court. <u>Harris v. State</u>, 104 So.2d 739 (Fla. 2d DCA 1958). Thus, the trial court, which admittedly did not agree with the verdict, should have granted the judgment of acquittal.

In <u>McKnight v. State</u>, 341 So.2d 261 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977), the victim, a strong man with a reputation for violence and who had lived with the defendant, severely beat the defendant in a bar earlier that evening. When the defendant returned home, she found the victim there, and he again threatened to beat her. She told the victim to stay away but he came at her muttering profanities. She retreated, again told the victim to stay away, but when he kept coming at her, she removed a pistol from her pocketbook and fired at the victim, killing him. The court held that the facts clearly demonstrated that the defendant acted in self-defense, and reversed her conviction.

Similarly, here, petitioner and Mosley knew each other, they were apparently cousins. Walker's testimony indicates that the victim was the aggressor, and his statement that she would have used the broken bottle on the petitioner indicates that she had a reputation for violence. She attacked the petitioner, much like the victim in <u>McKnight</u>. She kept coming at the petitioner, like the victim in <u>McKnight</u>. Even if we believe the victim, that she was not armed at the instant she was struck, it is still similar to <u>McKnight</u>, in that there was no showing that the victim in <u>McKnight</u> was armed when he was killed -- and yet relief was granted in McKnight.

Here, the force used in self defense was arguable less than that in <u>McKnight</u>, and the "victim" here is still alive -- to tell her version of the "facts." However, the facts herein, like those in <u>McKnight</u>, establish that the petitioner was justified in

his use of force. <u>See also</u>, <u>Andrews v. State</u>, 577 So.2d 650 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)(self-defense found as a matter of law).

The victim's own testimony establishes the reasonableness of the petitioner's actions. Further, petitioner's defense is consistent with the physical evidence -- and the fact that only one blow was struck against the alleged victim. It was therefore reversible error for the trial court to deny petitioner's motion for judgment of acquittal.

<u>Tibbs v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1981), established that an appellate court cannot reverse a conviction on the ground that the verdict is contrary to the weight of the evidence. Nonetheless, this Court was specific that, based on Rule 9.140(f), Fla. R. App. P., which provides that "[i]n the interest of justice, the court may grant any relief to which any party is entitled," the appellate court could still reverse in such cases for fundamental injustice occurring at trial. <u>See e.g.</u>, <u>Crenshaw v.</u> State, 490 So.2d 1054 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986).

Having jurisdiction on the basis of the certified question, this Court has jurisdiction over all issues. <u>Jacobson v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 1282 (Fla. 1985); <u>Savoie v. State</u>, 422 So.2d 308 (Fla. 1982). See e.g., Feller v. State, 637 So.2d 911, 914 (Fla. 1994).

Justice was not served by the conviction of Alfredco Lett, and the District Court of Appeal should have reversed his conviction and vacated his sentence remanding for discharge of the case "in the interest of justice." This Court is asked to remedy this injustice.

VI. SECOND ARGUMENT

CERTIFIED QUESTION

ISSUE PRESENTED: DOES THE DECISION IN CONEY APPLY TO "PIPELINE CASES," THAT IS, THOSE OF SIMILARLY SITUATED DEFENDANTS WHOSE CASES WERE PENDING ON DIRECT REVIEW OR NOT YET FINAL DURING THE TIME CONEY WAS UNDER CONSI-DERATION BUT PRIOR TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE OPINION?

Yes. Whether <u>Coney</u>³ is a clarification of existing law or new law, it must be applied to pipeline cases.⁴ Even were <u>Coney</u> not applied to this case, the statute and case law preceding <u>Coney</u> must be applied in the same manner as they were in <u>Coney</u>.

A. Facts of the Case.

The selection of jurors, Voir dire, is on the record, including conferences at the bench, ending at (T. 40) with the notation: "(Bench conference concluded)." What is important to this issue is not so much what appears on the record, as what does not appear:

- Nowhere is it reflected the petitioner was informed of his right to be present at the bench.
- Nowhere is it indicated the petitioner was present at the bench.
- Nowhere does the trial court **inquire** if the petitioner's absence from the bench is voluntary.
- Nowhere does the trial court certify that the petitioner's absence from the bench is voluntary.

³ Coney v. State, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995).

⁴ This Court should also be aware that this issue has been raised and briefed in depth in <u>(Lazaro) Martinez v. State</u>, Case No. 85,450, and addressed at oral argument in <u>Boyett v. State</u>, Case No. 81,971.

 Nowhere does the trial court ask the petitioner to ratify the choice of jurors made by his counsel.

These are indications that petitioner was not present during this important conference, thus the record demonstrates that only counsel for the state and the defense were at the bench.

The record is entirely silent regarding whether Petitioner understood the process of jury selection and, in particular, understood that the defense and the prosecution had the right to exercise peremptory challenges. Additionally, it is beyond dispute that lay persons typically do not understand what a "peremptory" challenge is.

The 1st District, in footnote one of its second opinion (02.1) notes "that the trial transcript does not reflect whether Lett was present or absent at voir dire bench conferences" and opines "that even if we assume the record reflects that Lett was not present at voir dire bench conferences, <u>Coney</u> does not require a new trial here." As shown below, this would be wrong even if the 1st District were correct in its opinion that <u>Coney</u> did not apply to "pipeline cases."

B. Coney and pre-Coney Law.

The law applied in <u>Coney</u> is based upon both a Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure and case law, which in turn is based on both the Florida and U.S. Constitutions.

Rule 3.180(a)(4), of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, requires that a defendant in a criminal case be present "at the beginning of the trial during the examination, challenging,

impanelling, and swearing of the jury" and this Court has ruled that this provision means exactly what it says. <u>Coney</u>, at 1013

A defendant is not present during the challenging of jurors if he is not at the location where the selection process is taking place. Thus, it is not enough that he be present somewhere in the courtroom. He must be able to hear the proceedings and participate in them. If he is seated at the defense table while a whispered selection conference is being conducted at the judge's bench, he cannot be said to be present and participating.

In <u>Coney v State</u>, 653 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1995) this Court wrote:

We conclude that the rule means just what it says: The defendant has a right to be physically present at the immediate site where pretrial juror challenges are exercised. See Francis v. State, 413 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 1982). Where this is impractical, such as where a bench conference is required, the defendant can waive this right and exercise constructive presence through counsel. In such a case, the court must certify through proper inquiry that the waiver is knowing, intelligent and voluntary.

Alternatively, the defendant can ratify strikes made outside his presence by acquiescing in the strikes after they are made. See State v. Melendez, 244 So.2d 137 (Fla. <u>19</u>71). Again, the court must certify the defendant's approval of the strikes through proper inquiry. Obviously, no contemporaneous objection by the defendant is required to preserve this issue for review, since the defendant cannot be imputed with a lawyer's knowledge of the rules of criminal procedure. Our ruling today clarifying this issue is prospective only.

Id.

A waiver of the right to be present must be certified by the court to be knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. The judge in Mr. Lett's case made no inquiry or certification whatsoever. None of the requirements listed in the above quotation were met in the lower court.

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