# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAY 22 1996

ALFREDCO LETT,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 87,541

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

EDWARD C HILL, JR.
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 238041

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I.

This Court should decline review of this issue because the lower tribunal's decision was a routine application of settled principles to the facts of the case. The lower tribunal's

pronouncement does not misstate the law and contains no legal issue warranting review by this Court.

If, this Court accepts the case for review it should affirm the decision of the lower tribunal. The decision should be affirmed because in the trial court petitioner never asserted that the evidence was legally insufficient. Thus, the issue was not properly preserved.

Additionally, the victim's unrebutted testimony examined in a light favorable to the state (as required by the case law) provided sufficient evidence to submit the charges to the jury. Therefore, the decision should be affirmed.

#### ISSUE II.

The question certified by the district court has already been answered and does not rise to the level of a question of great public importance. Thus, discretionary review should be denied. The Court should also decline review because the petitioner is not a member of the pipeline class who could benefit from an affirmative answer to the certified question, as he did not raise the issue at trial.

Finally, the state urges that if this Court answers the question, that it answer the question in the negative. The

question should be answered in the negative because the issue has been decided, because this Court has the authority to make its decisions prospective, and because modifications of rules of procedure are appropriately prospective only.

# ARGUMENT

# ISSUE I

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY DENYING PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR JUDGEMENT OF ACQUITTAL? (Restated)

Petitioner argues that the trial court erred in denying the motion for judgement of acquittal. Petitioner is wrong and this Court should reject his arguments.

# Jurisdiction

Pursuant to Article V § 3(b)(4) Florida Constitution this

Court "[m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal

that passes upon a question certified by it to be one of great

public importance." When the Court obtains jurisdiction over a

case, it obtains jurisdiction over all issues in the case. The

District Court of Appeal of Florida, First District has certified

a question, therefore, this Court has jurisdiction.

# Exercise of Jurisdiction

While this Court has jurisdiction to answer this question, this Court has the discretion to decide whether it should exercise its jurisdiction and hear the case. State v. Burgess, 326 So.2d 441 (Fla. 1976), Stein v. Darby, 134 So.2d 232 (Fla. 1961) The state urges this Court to exercise its discretion and

decline to review this case. <u>Coffin v. State</u>, 374 So.2d 504, 508 (Fla. 1979)

This Court should decline review of this issue because the lower tribunal's decision was a routine application of settled principles to the facts of the case. The district court simply held without explanation that it agreed with the trial court that the victim's unrebutted testimony provided sufficient evidence to submit the charges to the jury. This pronouncement does not misstate the law and contains no legal issue warranting review by this Court.

Furthermore, the sufficiency of the evidence was not properly preserved by a specific objection in the trial court. Petitioner did not move for a judgement of acquittal on sufficiency grounds at the close of the state's case. (T 110) Petitioner in his initial brief acknowledges that the trial lawyer's motion made after the verdict was a motion for judgement of acquittal based on the greater weight of the evidence. I.B. 11, (T 176) Rule 3.380 F. R. Crim. P. provides for the making of a motion for judgement of acquittal during and after trial. The rule provides that such a motion may be granted when the evidence is insufficient. Rule 3.600 F.R.Crim.P. provides for a motion for new trial upon the ground of the weight of the evidence.

Appellant's motion which did not raise an issue relative to the sufficiency of the evidence did not properly preserve the issue for appellate review because motions for judgements of acquittal are not granted based on the weight of the evidence. This Court emphasized this rule in the case of <u>Tibbs v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1981). In <u>Tibbs</u>, this Court set the standard by stating:

[T]he concern on appeal must be whether after all reasonable inferences therefrom have been resolved in favor of the verdict on appeal, there is substantial, competent evidence to support the verdict and judgment. Legal sufficiency alone, as opposed to evidentiary weight, is the appropriate concern of an appellate tribunal.

Id., at 1123.

This Court has reaffirmed this ruling many times. See Grossman v. State, 525 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1988). Only the sufficiency of the evidence and not its weight is reviewable on appeal.

Because the specific objection to the verdict was a motion for judgement of acquittal based on a ground which is not a basis for a judgement of acquittal, the motion did not preserve for appellate review the issue of whether the trial

court's denial of the motion for judgement of acquittal was error. State v. Barber, 301 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1974) Because the error raised was not properly preserved for review in the District Court, this Court should not exercise its discretion to review the District Court's denial of relief.

#### Merits

Even if this Court were to review the issue, petitioner would not be entitled to relief.

Certain rules also apply when an appellate court is reviewing the denial of a motion for judgment of acquittal based on the insufficiency of the evidence. When a defendant moves for a judgment of acquittal, he admits all facts in evidence and all reasonable inferences that may be drawn from those facts.

Anderson v. State, 504 So.2d 1270 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986).

Therefore, facts and inferences must be reviewed in the light most favorable to the state. Buenoano v. State, 478 So.2d 387 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

Florida courts have also repeatedly held the credibility of witnesses and weight of conflicting testimony should not be examined on a motion for judgment of acquittal. <u>Busch v. State</u>, 466 So.2d 1075, 1079 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984); <u>Lynch v. State</u>, 293

So.2d 44, 45 (Fla. 1974). These issues are for the jury to decide. Heiney v. State, 447 So.2d 210 (Fla. 1984).

What petitioner is asking this Court to do is to violate these rules which have been uniformly applied in every sufficiency of the evidence case since <u>Tibbs</u> and reweigh the evidence especially the credibility determination of the jury. This Court should reject such a request.

In evaluating the issue of the legal sufficiency of the evidence, this Court has repeatedly stated that the issue is whether the evidence viewed in a light most favorable to the State establishes a prima facie case of the charged offense.

Lynch v. State, 293 So.2d 44 (Fla. 1974), State v. Law, 559

So.2d 187 (Fla. 1990). Moreover, even if the evidence is circumstantial and susceptible to more than one construction; when the issue is whether a prima facie case has been shown, such evidence is sufficient. Lynch As the Supreme Court said in State v. Allen, 335 So.2d 823 (Fla. 1976):

Circumstantial evidence, by its very nature, is not free from alternate interpretations. The state is not obligated to rebut conclusively every possible construction in a way which is consistent only with the allegations against the defendant. Were those requirements placed on the state for these purposes, circumstantial evidence

would always be inadequate to establish a preliminary showing of the necessary elements of a crime.

At trial the direct evidence established that the victim chased the petitioner from the front porch of her residence using a broken bottle. The victim testified that after petitioner went around the corner she dropped the bottle because the argument was over. She testified that after she dropped the bottle, petitioner took a tire iron and struck her on the arm. This blow broke the victim's arm. Petitioner then followed her back to the house and was going to strike her again. (T 58-74) If believed, this assertion establishes the elements of the crimes charged and is sufficient to send the case to the jury.

Petitioner cannot rely on alternative inferences because in making his motion appellant admits the facts in evidence and all reasonable inferences stemming from those facts. Thus, petitioner cannot rely on any self serving claim of self defense. He is bound by the state's facts which established that petitioner attacked the victim after she had ceased chasing him and had disarmed. Once she had disarmed and ceased any assault, petitioner has no basis to claim that self defense authorizes him

to employ deadly or non deadly force by striking the woman with a tire iron.

When the law is applied to the facts of this case, the only conclusion that can be drawn is the one that the trial court that the motion for judgement of acquittal was properly denied.

# Summary

This Court should decline review of this issue because the decision of the lower tribunal was a routine application of settled principles to the facts of the case. The lower tribunal's pronouncement does not misstate the law and contains no legal issue warranting review by this Court.

If, this Court accepts the case for review it should affirm the decision of the lower tribunal. The decision should be affirmed because in the trial court petitioner never asserted that the evidence was legally insufficient. Thus, the issue was not preserved.

Additionally, the victim's unrebutted testimony examined in a light favorable to the state (as required by the case law) provided sufficient evidence to submit the charges to the jury. Therefore, the decision should be affirmed.

# CERTIFIED OUESTION

DOES THE DECISION IN <u>CONEY</u> APPLY TO "PIPELINE CASES,"
THAT IS THOSE OF SIMILARLY SITUATED DEFENDANTS WHOSE
CASES WERE PENDING ON DIRECT REVIEW OR NOT YET FINAL
DURING THE TIME CONEY WAS UNDER CONSIDERATION BUT PRIOR
TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE OPINION?

#### Jurisdiction

Pursuant to Article V § 3(b)(4) Florida Constitution this Court "[m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal that passes upon a question certified by it to be one of great public importance." The District Court of Appeal of Florida, First District has certified the above stated question, therefore, this Court has jurisdiction.

# Exercise of Jurisdiction

While this Court has jurisdiction to answer this question certified by the lower tribunal, it also has the discretion to decline to do so. State v. Burgess, 326 So.2d 441 (Fla. 1976), Stein v. Darby, 134 So.2d 232 (Fla. 1961) The state urges this Court to exercise its discretion and decline to review this case. Coffin v. State, 374 So.2d 504, 508 (Fla. 1979)

The District Court of Appeal, First District of Florida, granted rehearing of its original opinion in order to certify this question. The certified question improperly asks this Court

to conduct a rehearing of its decision in <u>Coney v. State</u>, 653
So.2d 1009, 1013 (Fla. 1995). In <u>Coney</u>, this Court interpreted rule 3.180(a) F. R. Crim. P. and stated that:

Our ruling today clarifying this issue is prospective only.

# Id. at 1013

In certifying its question, the district court acknowledged that it understood the meaning of the language used by this Court in Coney: prospective means the decision does not apply to cases tried prior to the decision. The decision below questioned how the Coney decision can be reconciled with Smith v. State, 598 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 1992). In order to resolve what it perceived as an unanswered issue, the district court certified the question.

The district court's perception that an issue remains to be resolved is erroneous. Subsequent to the <u>Smith</u> decision, this Court has answered the question of how decisions of this Court are to be applied by the courts of this state. The issue was specifically addressed in <u>Wuornos v. State</u>, 644 So.2d 1000 (Fla. 1994), where this Court addressed the proper reading of <u>Smith</u> and held that <u>Smith</u> means that new points of law established by this Court shall be deemed retrospective with respect to all non-final

cases unless this Court says otherwise. The issue was discussed in <u>Domberg v. State</u>, 661 So.2d 285 (Fla. 1995) a case dealing with retroactivity. In <u>Domberg</u>, this Court referred to <u>Smith</u> in the following way:

Smith v. State, 598 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 1992), limited by Wuornos v. State, 644 So.2d 1000, 1008 n.4 (Fla. 1994) (Smith read to mean that new points of law established by this Court shall be deemed retrospective with respect to all non-final cases unless this Court says otherwise), cert. denied \_\_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 115 S.Ct. 1705, 131 L.Ed.2d 566 (1995), State v. Jones, 485 So.2d 1283 (Fla. 1986)

# Domberg at 287

Thus, the issue of how <u>Smith</u> is to be read has been decided.

Since the issue presented by the certified question has been put to rest by recent decisions of this Court, it cannot be said that the certified question is one of any public importance. Therefore, this Court should decline to exercise its jurisdiction to answer the already decided question presented by this case.

See Stein.

There is a second reason why this Court should decline to exercise its jurisdiction in this case. As part of its reason to certify the issue, the district court noted that there were numerous Coney-type cases in the pipeline. This statement

misapplies the definition of a pipeline case entitled to obtain the benefit from a new decision. A pipeline case is one in which the issue is properly preserved in an appeal which is not final at the time the change in law occurs. In order to be a pipeline case, an appellant must establish that he is similarly situated and his issue is properly preserved. This was made clear by this Court's holding in Gibson v. State, 661 So.2d 288 (Fla. 1995). There this Court held that issues relating to a defendant's presence during jury voir dire (like other jury voir dire issues) must be preserved in the trial court by contemporaneous objection. The Gibson case presented this Court on appeal with the following issue:

Gibson claims error in two respects. First, he argues that the trial court violated his right to be present with counsel during the challenging of jurors by conducting the challenges in a bench conference. Second, he argues that the trial court violated his right to the assistance of counsel by denying defense counsel's request to consult with Gibson before exercising peremptory challenges.

This Court specifically held that:

In <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982), we said that, "in order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below." In this case, we find that Gibson's lawyer did not raise the issue that is now being asserted on appeal. If counsel wanted to consult with his client over which jurors to exclude and to admit, he did not

convey this to the trial court. On the record, he asked for an afternoon recess for the general purpose of meeting with his client. Further, there is no indication in this record that Gibson was prevented or limited in any way from consulting with his counsel concerning the exercise of juror challenges. On this record, no objection to the court's procedure was ever made. In short, Gibson has demonstrated neither error nor prejudice on the record before this Court. Cf. Coney v. State, 653 So.2d 1009, 1013 (Fla. 1995)

# Gibson at 290-291

Thus, Gibson's attempt to raise for the first time on appeal a Coney issue was rejected because it was not properly preserved. This rule of law operates independently of Coney and applies even to cases where the trial takes place after Coney issued. Likewise, petitioner did not object in the trial court and his case is indistinguishable from Gibson. Indeed, as the district court commented, it cannot even be shown that petitioner was not physically present at the sidebars.

This Court should discourage the promiscuous certification of irrelevant questions by declining to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction and by instructing the district courts that unpreserved claims cannot be the basis for "an issue of great public importance." Misapplication of the designation "this is an issue of great public importance" when the issue

common. In fact, this "Coney" issue has been repeatedly certified by the lower tribunal in cases which do not contain any objection to the trial court procedure. See Branch v. State, no 87,717, Bell v. State, No. 87,716, Gainer v. State, No. 87,720, Lee No. 87,715, Horn No. 87,789 Continuation of this practice should be discouraged.

# Merits

This Court, if it exercises discretionary review, should answer the certified question in the negative.

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